CHAPTER 1I

THE ARRIVAL OF MAN
l. The Aborigines

Of the few as yet but very imperfectly ex-
plored regions in the United States, the largest
perhaps is the southernmost Part of Florida be-
low the 26th degree of northern latitude. This
is particularly true of the central and western
portions of this region, whica inland are an
unmapped wilderness of everglades and cypress
Swamps, and off-shore a maze of low mangrove

‘keys” or islands, mostly unnamed ang uncharted,
with channels, "riversn and "bays" about them

their 1ife in that region, 1

The above paragraph from the pen of iles Hrdlidka, the
author of g definitive study of anthropology in Florids
written in 1922, remains undisputed twenty-four years later,’
on a trip from Chocoloskee Island on Florida's souﬁhwestezn\
coast to the southernmost point of Cape Sable, & distance of
£ifty miles, Ales Hrdlicka found the actual settlers to cop-
sist 6f only five or six familieé in the early 1920'8.? The
seasénaily inundated shoresAéf Lake Okéachgbeei the ?assy
waters of the Everglades, the swempy isolation of the
OGaioacoochee Slough and the Big Cypress, and the tidal flood-
ed islands of the Mangrove Coast inreSted‘with mbsguitbes
and other pests could never have been the habitations fbrvg

large population,

~———

1 Ales Hrdlicka, The Anthropology of Florida, 5.
2 Ibid., 6, "_"""R“SL‘"——'——.




58 {}
Various canals and small harbors along the southwestern :
coast and ftremendous piles of shells on the mangrove islands !
indicate that southwest F}orida was once inhabited by numer- ‘
ous and enterprising men, Exeavations in meny large mounds 1_
have produced various types of potsherds; obsidian knives I
found on nearby Key Largo suggest Mayan atock,,perhaﬁs in
the Csloosa trive which held the area in the sixteenth cen- ]
tury. Digzgings in a series of deposits at the fork of the
New River several miles west of Fit, Lauderdale revealed
pottgry of a primitivé natare. These mounds, locafed in _
1508, ranged vp to eight feet in height above the surround-
ing land eand es much as fifty feet in d.iameter.4 On Long}k
Key, in the Evergledes, a refuse deposit two hundred feet"
in diameter gave up numerous potsherds vhiéh bore shell-cut
workings on marine shells, The ancient inhanitants o:.the
region used terrapin shells extensively as well as alligator;
fish, and bird bones in their primitive handioraft, Anoieﬁt
. camp sites have been found on a number of Everglades xslandsf
A.geint state =nd teeérai archeological sar?ey;ﬁcrkingil
in the Dade County area in 1936 on mounds nesar Opa Looka an@_
and Golden Glade, unearthed a large veriety of shells, beads;

3 John G. Gifford and Alfred H., Gilbert, "Prehistories
Mounds in South Florida,” Seiense, LXXV (Marech 18, 1932), 213.

4 Mark Reymond Earringlon, DAreheology of the Everglades
Region,” American Anthropologist, XI- (January-Mareh,1909),
139-142, = R | '

5 Ibid., 142,
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pottery, and other artifacts which indicated two dlstinct
Indian cultures, one on top of the other. ™. ., . the resulis
ovtained will prove to be of utmost value to archeologists
in more clearly ucderstanding the type of man who lived in

6
¥lorida in pre-Columbisn days,." These investigetions in
the mounds near Miami brought to light valusble end important
materisls whlch definitely proved that en earlier race inhab-
ited these village sites than the Tequesias or other Indians
discovered in Soutb. Floride by the Spanish explorers.

.é.le_as Erdlicka, in his anthrepologlcsl searches 1n_
Florida, located a great number of mounds, shell heaps, and
kitehen middens on the western and southwestern coasts, and
a number of relatively insignificant sand mounds along the
Caloosehatchee River from Fi. Hyers to Lz Belle.

About eight miles northeast 0f the small town - -

of La Belle, however, there is a large sand mound

whioh may e seen . '« , Oval in outline, about

20 to 25 feet in height and approximately 160

yards in eireumference at the base, A number of

excavations have been made by local explorers in .

the mound, but so far as could be learned without

resolts, 7 ~

Between La Belle and Lake Okescnobee, Hrdl:l‘.cka._. could £ind

-nothing of 1mporténee" in the way of Indian ‘rema:lns. nor déu‘ld.

6 Florida State Archeological Su.rvey,. Second B.temiia.l
%%gort So_the State Board of Conservatiom ( y £&T .

7 Ales Hrdlioka, The Anthropology of Florida, 652,




40
bhe locate anything in the vicinity of the lake itself, The

canals and other works of drainage construction in the area

falled to revesl any Indian remains of importance; conse-

”’T"\

quently Hrdlicks concluded.:

It appears that no mounds have as yet been
located el ther about Lake Okeechobee or to the
east of it, The interior of the peninsula at
this latitude is, therefore, asccording to all
indications so far, much more sterile in Indian -
remains of all sorts than the coast regions, 8

A report on the location of *, , . a great plan of earth

works elaborately laid out in embankments and mounds, cdver-

ing an area a mile square" at the very edge of the Everglades
near the shores of Lake Okeechobee and the present town of [
Belle Glade was made in 1931.9 The central figure of the

earth works consisted of a flat-topped rectangle thirty feet
by two hundred and fifty feet, with earihen embankments en- .

closing a court at the front of the figure. 4 semi-ciroular T

bank, partially enclosing the restangle and embankmen ts,

extended farther forward., 'Bgtthew We. Stirling, chiefiot the

-

Bureau of American Ethnology, found these Everglades son-

structions the nearest approach to the famous Fdrt Anoient
earthworks in Ohio of any in North Amerlca, Excavations on
'a small scale disclosed potsherds identifying the locality

'8 Ales Hrdlicka, The Anthropology of Florida, 528,
9 Matthew W. Stirling, “Expgurer Finds First Trages of
Unkn?wn Everglades Tribe," Soience Kews Letier, XIX (May 23,
1931), 325. :
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with an aboriginal inhabitation long before that of the
Seminoles.lo

¥hile plowing ground on the northern shore of Lake
Okeechobee in 1921, M, A. Miller discovered an idol cut
from lignum vitae., Tanis 1dol, earved to represent a human
flgure in a squatting position, lent additional strength
to the theory that a race entedating presently known gbo-
riginal.tribes lived in the area.ll J. Walter Fewkes, then
chief of the Bureau of American Ethnology, pointed out that
this object, found in the earth where Lake Okeechobee waters
formerly stood six feet deep, possessed a remarksble simi-
larity to a wooden idol found some years previously in Cuba;
both were apﬁroximately the same size, both had been cut
from lignum vitae, and both had weathered to an identiocal
colors Fewkes, comparing this artifact with others found on
Key Marco and near Ft., Myers, regarded it as typiocal of a
culture unrecorded in the past but opening a new phase of
archeological research in Florida.la

2. BEarly Explorers

Ponce de Leon, the earliest recorded waite man to reash

10 Eat&hew We Stirling, "Explorer Finds First Traces of

-Unknown Everglades Tribe," loe. cit., 325,

11 Jesse Walter Fewkes, "fboriginal Wooden Objects from
Southern Florida,"™ Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections,
LXXX (March,1928), Number 9, 1=2, —— — B S
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Florida, found the area peopled by sedentary Indians, There
exists no authentic evidence as to the origin, arrival, or
blood relation of these aborigines, though they were found
to have had some contact with other continental tribes and
with'Cu.ba.l3 Daniel Brinton, one of the earliest anthro-
pologists to give serious study to Florida, divided Florida,
s occupied by the Indlans in the sixteentn century, inte
several districts, Two of these covered most of the Ever-
glades: from Cape Cénaveral to the tip of the peninsula on
the east coast lay Tegquesta; and the west coast areé.Aat
least as far as Tampa Bay and into the interior around Lake
Okeechobee, was inhabited by the Caloosa or Calos.14

Ponce de Leon, no doubt, had heard tales of the Caloosa,
for on his second voyage $0 the continent he chose the west-
ern coast for his itinerary. Wwhen the explorer attempted %o
land near the present site of F%., Myers at the mouth of the
Caloosahatchee River in 1521, his forces wers met by a fleet
of eighty cances filled with these Indians, The Spaniards

. i
were compelled to withdraw afier an all day fight,

13 James Mooney, "Calusa," Handbook of American Indians,
Pazt I, Bulletin 30, Bureau of American Ethno 08y,

14 Daniel Garrison Brinton, Notes on the Floridisnm Pen-
insula, Indian Tribes and Antigui¥ies, «

Tk Woodbury Lowery, The Spanish Settlements Within the
Present Limits of the United §ta¥es, TEIE:IBEI,QI35:13§.
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Even at this early date they were noted among
the tribes for their golden wealth which they had
accumulated from numerous Spanish wrecks cast
away upon the keys in passage from the south and
two ceanturies later they were regarded as veri=-
table pirates, plundering and killing without
mercy the crews of all vessels, excepting the
Spanish, so unfortunate as to be stranded in
their neighborhood. 16
The name Caloosa, defying interpretation, appears in the
early French and Spanish records as Calos, Carlos, and
Caluca; in the English resords as Caloosa, Carloose, &and
Charlotte. The name survives today in Caloosa village,
: 17 ‘
Caloosahatchee River, and Charlette Harbor, The lan-
guage of the Caloosa, surviving only in a few place naﬁés,
siows affinity with the Choctaw, and Caloosa may be a com=
bination of Kallo, "strong," and lusa, "black.® The secaond
element of Caloosahatochee is the later Seminole hachi ,
A 18 . ‘
river,®
When Ponce de Leon landed on the west coasyv, he was
able to find an Indien who understoed Spanish. 'Whérever,the
Spanierd traveled along the Goast he encountered s hatred

for the Spanish which bore testimony to previous unfortunate

16 James Mooney, ™alusa," Handbook of American Indisns,
Bulletin 30, Part I, Bureau of Americean ology, R .

~ 17 John R, Swenton, Early Eistory of the Creek Indians
and tiheir Neighbors, Bulle$in 74, Bureau of American Ethnol-
gy, 2a, 29=-30., Cited hereinafier as Early History of the
Creekse. ’

18 William A, Read, -"Florida Place-Names of Indian -
Origin and Seminole Personal Names," Louisiana State Uniyer-
8ity Studies, XI (1934), 45-46. Cited hereinafter as "Florida
Place-Names of Indian Origin,” =
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experiences., De Leon had with him, ". . . one or more Indi-

ans who gave him the Indien place names of Florida and trans-
19
lated their meaning into Spanish." These competent guides

T

must have been brought along with the expedition, thus show-
ing previous contacis batween the Spanish and the Florida
aborigines, ’ -
In the period from 1521 to 1560, Spanish attempts at
colonization in Florida and the neaxrby regions of the Atlan-
tic and Gulf coasts ended in dismal failuré. France, sunk
in a slougk of "decadence and civil war” from which the
Hugueﬁot leader Coligry dreamed of rescuing her "by snateh-
ing treasure and colories” from Spain, sent out several expe-
ditions in the decade of the 1560’8.20 The French Protes-
tants turned to the southern coast of North America for
settlements and Jean Ribaut attempted to plant colonies, at )
Port Royal in 1562 and at the mouth of the St, Johns River .
in 1564, from which locations the Spanish treasure fleets -
might be seized. The Port Royal colony ended in the set- .
tlers embarking for France in a leaky ship, while thqwst.
Johns colony was also shert lived, being destroyed by Pedro
Menendez de Aviles in 1565, The 1ittle French colony in

Florida was twice'viSited by Rene de Laudonniere, who iéé .

T

19 David O, True, editor, Memoir of D? d'Escclente
Fontaneds Respecti Floridas ¥r en in Spa abou

Year 1570 ﬁransfagea from the Spanish EE%E notes by Busk-
. ;gggam §§i§§, Nose Z7E, 62, Clted hereinatter as Memolr of
| Fontanedsa.

7T 20 Kathryn 7. Abbey, Florida, Land of Change, 26-27, lJ
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P accompanied by an artist, Jacques Le Moyne. ILe Moyne made
?ﬁ a great many sketches of the Scenes he saw in the new wofld,
| and on nis return to Frence the drawings were publisned, to-
gether with an explanatory rarrative and one of the better
maps of the times. From Le lioyne's account 1t is poésible
%o glean something of Lake Gkeechobee and the Everglades in
f the sixteenth century,

; During the time of Laudonniere's second visit to the
} Florida colony stories were heard of foreigners livihg wiih
| some of the Indian tribes. The French offered rewards to

| the Indians who would bring such persoms to them; as a

) result two Spaniards were brought into the French viilégé;.
} ¥hen questioned as %o how they arrived in Florida,'theséﬁ ?
men related that they had been members of an expedition

which had been wrecked on the Florida reefs and had fallen

21
into the hands of the Caloosa,

Both were brought in, naked with hair down
to their hams, Indian fashion, Spaniards by
birth, but so accustomed to the natives!
manners, the French seemed foreigners They

=2~ - a =S X ] Add O,

were clothed, shaved, and bathed, they kept
their hair to show the hardships they had
experienced in India. 22

The two Spaniards related the details of their ship-
wreck near one of the Florids Xeys, and how the chief of the

21 Jacques Le Yoyne, Narrative of Le Mo ‘e. an Artist

E Who Acco?ganied Laudonniere, 1564, IETI]:"‘j
5" LN ] L]
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Caloosa, King Calos, had kept for himself the greater part

of the riches from thsir vesssl and others that had suffered
Similar disasters. The majority of the crew and passehgefs,
many of whom were women and children, had been saved and con-

tinued their existence as slaves of the Caloosas They re-

garded King Calos es the handsomest and largest Indian of

ell that region, a powerful ruler, possessed of a great

e

store of gold and silver collscted from marine disasters
along the coast and from trade amcng neighboring tribes.z3
The king was held in great veneration because of his magigalw
incantations which his people believed furnished them with

the goods of 1life. 4t harvest time each year the barbarous

king sacrificed a2 man set sside for this purpose, usually
one of the group of captive whites.

according to these Spaniards, the village of the chief
of the Calos lay on & river beyond the Cape of Florida,
forty or f£ifty leagues towards tbhe southuest.24 One of l
them told how he had scted as a courier tovthé chief and ' i
had been sent several times on a four or.five day Journey

from Calos to a chief named Oathchaqua on the east coast, ?

23 Jacques Le Moyne, Narrative of Le Moyne, an Artist -

Who Accompanied Laudonniere, 1564, 1l.
7.8 Eﬁe river was most fIEer the Caloosahatchee. Buck-

ingham Smith, editor, (2SS) "Memoir of Hernando D'Escalante

Fonteneda on the Country and Ancient Indien Tribes of
Fiorida," 48-50. : o ‘
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Midway on this Journey there is, in a great
freshwater lake called Sarrope, an island about
five miles across, abounding in many kinds of
fruit, and especially in dates growing on palm
trees, in which there is & great trade. There
is a still greater ons in a certain root of
which flour is made, of so good a gualiiy that
the most excellent bread is made of it, and fur-
nisned to all tihe country for fifteen leagues
about., Hence the inhabitants of this island
galn great wealth from their neighbors, for
they will not sell the root except at a high .
price. Koreover, they ars reckened the bravest
people of all that region.  » « 25

Woodbury Lowery's placement and deseription of the
Indian tribes in southern Florida in the sixteenth century
put the province of the Caloosa on the southwestern extrem~

ity of the peninéula ebout the river whica recalls their

. hname. A populous and powerful nation, rich in pearls, they

were settled irn many little villages along the Gulf coast .
and the shores of Laske Okeechobee, This region was also
inhabited by descendants of Cuban Indians who had come in-

25 Jacques Le Moyne, Narrative of Le Moyne, an Artist
Who Accompanied Laudonniere, 1bo&, 1l. -ORn hHis crude m3p of
Florida Le Moyne placed the territory of Calos at the south~
ernmost end of the psninsula, a little to the west of the
cape at the extreme south, the country of Oathcagua at Cape
Canaveral, and approximately midway between the Atlantioc
Ocean and the Gulf of Mexico. Swanton believed Le Moyne's
Placing of Leke Sarrope in the south central section of the
state to be too far south and too far inland, as the French
knew of it only by hearsay. Swanton pointed out that the
island was yrobably Merritt{ Island behind Cape Canaveral
and between the Banana and Indian Rivers rather than one in
Lake Okeechobee, Buekingham Smith held that the leke was
Ckegqchobee and the island was situated in it. John R. ~

Swanton, Zerly History of the Creek Indians, 329; David O}A

True, editor, Memoir of Fontaneds, motes 105, 15Sw, 42-43,
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26
search of the traditional rejuvenating waters, Lowery

placeé the province of Teguesta, peopled with aborigines who
worshipped the sun under the semblance of a stuffed deer, on
the Florida east coast from the scﬁthern end of the Indien
River to the Florida Xeys. Ee placei the Als at the upper
end of Tequesta in the vicinity of Cepe Canaveral, the
Indien and Ranansa rivers, and the ilosquito Lagoone.

In the suamer of 1565, the Spanish afelantado 3enendez
direeted Trancisco de Reynoso, one of his capteins, to visit
Chief Carlos of the Caloosa on the west ccast of Florida.
itith a company of thirty soldiers, Reynoso was directed to
erect a fort for the protection of Spanish interests ashore
and efloat, and to discover & waterway to "Lake 3iami®
through waich communication by ship might be established
from the Aitlantic Ccean to thes Culf of Mexico by way of the

27
St. Johns Hiver, The Caloosa, into whose country Reynoso

‘was sent, were ¥+ . . masters of a large district of countrj,.

as far as a town they call Guacata, on the Lake of M¥ayaimi,

26 Woodbury Lowery, The Spanish Settlements ¥Within the
Present Limits of the United States, 1513-1561, 63. James
HWooney estimated the number 0f Caloo0sa indlians at o,bOO, ‘and
their neighbors, the Ais and Tequesta at 1,000, James _
iooney, "Tne a.boriginal Population of America North of beb
ico,"” Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections, LXXX (1928),
Number 7, 7,

27 Woodbury Lowery, The Spanish Settlements Within the
Present Limits of the United States, Fiorida, 1562-1014,

T63, 276,

i
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28

which is called Mayaimi because it is very large."™ Reynoso
experienced a great deal of trouble with the Caloosa chief-
tan, who was becoming restless with the lordly foreigners |
whose presence‘was whetting his thirst for blood. The‘Spéh-
ish captain and his little band of men withstood several sly
attempts on their lives before the wily Carlos was put to
death under a sentence of Reynoso.zg

D? d'Escalente Fontaneda, born of Spanish parents in
the service of the King of Spain in Peru, was on his way to
the fatherland when the ship on which he was taking passage
went afoul on the notorious Florida hazards.so' Captured by
the Indians at the age of thirteen, the Spaniard remsined
in their hands until the age of thirty, when he was rescued
by Megendez on one of the latter's eiplorations,'probably in
1566.61 His Memoir, written about 1575, has become'ane of

28 David 0. True, editor, Memoir of Fontaneda, 12,
PThis name, of which Miami is a varian s Ry be a compound
of Choctaw Maiha, *wide,’ and mih, ‘™t is s0.t By Lgﬁg%g‘de
Mayaimi FonTaneda meant what iS now called Lakes Okeechobee,
Aviles on his expedition up the St, Johns RIver in 156 ’
Called this lzke Maymi.® William A, Read, "Florida Place-
Kames of Indian OTig n,” loc., e¢it.,, 17-18, o :

29 Ibid., 16, .

30 THd., 17, 19. e

31 TIn"the year 1564, Pedro Kenendez &' Aviles asked
permission of the Xing to seek his only son; and soon after
was appointed adelantamiento of Florida. He salled the next
year; and having broken up the French settlement of Fort
Caroline of the Saint John's River, he went in search of Don
Juan at the Bay of Carlos, and found that he was no longer
living. It was probably at this time, in the year 1566,
that Fontaneda was relieved from captivity." Buckingham
Smith comment in note, David O, True, editor, Memoir of Fon-
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the few source records concerning the Everglades prior to

1700.

. .‘*‘r—"\ —— Py

Fontaneda described the locale of the present day Miami

T

and nearby south Florida area as

e « ¢ 8 Dlace of the Indians cealled Tequesta,
situate on the bank of a river which extends
into the country the distance of fifteen
leagues, and issues from another lake of fresh -
water, which is said by some Indians who have
traversed it more than I, to be an arm of the -
Lake of Mayaimi., On this lake, which lies in -
the midst of the country, are many towns, of ‘
thirty or forty inhabitants each; and as many
more places there are in which people are not
s0 numerous, They have bread of roots, which
is their common food the greater part of the
time; and because of the lake, which rises in
some seasons so high that the roots cannot be
reached in consequence of the water, they are
for some time without this bread. Fish is
plenty and very good. There is another root,
like the truffle over here, which is sweet;

and there are other different roots of many
kinds; but when there is hunting, either deer
or birds, they prefer to eat meat or fowl. I
will also mention that in the rivers of fresh
water are infinite quantities of eels, very
savory, and enmormous trout. « . « The Indians
also eat lagartos (alligators), end snakes, and
animals like rats, which live in the lake, . T
fresh-water tortoises, and many more disgusting L :
reptiles which, i1f we were to continue enumera- o
‘ ting, we should never be through. 32 S /

taneda, note 365, 65, True, on the other hand, decided that
Fonteneda could not have left Florida before 1569. Since
the Spaniard became a member of Henendez's entourage, True's: =
statement would not be inconsistent Witb Smith's speculation. -
Ibid., 23s. - ‘ R '

! : gE_Dé&id 0. True, editor, Memoir of Fontaneda, 13.
Undoubtedly the bread of roots Tefers to the ¥Xoonti of the 4
later Seminoles, and the smilax or red koonti. The roo% ;
similar to a truffle is probably the mud or reed potato, iﬁ
common or tne shores of many of Florida's mud-bottom lakes, ;
The rats were probably otters.
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Fontanela commented that these Indians occupied a véry

rocky and very marshy country. The former was the ek

ridge and pineland bordering the Everglades, and the latter

cannot be mistaken for other then the glades, The clothing
i of the men and women was remarkable for its non-existence.
l "They are subjects of Carlos, and pay him tribute of a11 ‘*l';he

! things I have before mentioned, food and roots, the skins of

\I deer, and other articles, "33 The lands of Florida, Fontan-

I eda wrote, were abundant in pasturage and he recommended the

i Spanish government make stock-farms for the breeding of cat-

l tle, but he was not certain they were fit for settlement or

l the plantings of sugar cane, although he had seen stalks of

’ the latter which had been set out and had begun to grow.%
In 1567 the Spaniards established a mission among thel

Caloosa, but it was never popular with the Indians and was

soon discontinued; but the tribe later came under Spanish

influence, One of the villeges under the dominance of the

Caloosa was inhabited by déscendants of the &é.wahan stock

which lived in Cuba and South America as far s outh a8 Brazil,

These Cuban aborigines had, according to Fontaneda, come to

. 3% David 0., True, editor, Memoir of Fontaneda, 14.
"These Irdians have no gold, less silver, and less clothing,
They go naked, except only some breech cloths woven of palm,
with which the men cover themselves; the women do the 1ike
with certain grass that grows on trees., This grass looks
like wool, although it is different from it," Ibid., 1l.

34 lbid., 21, ~

|
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2
Florida in search of the mythical waters of rejuvenation,
&nd had been detained by the Caloosa. About the year 1600, {‘
and thereafter, the Celoosa carried on a regnlar trade by P
canoe with Havana in fish, skins, and :a.m’o,er.z5

From the close of the sixteenth century to the trans- [
fer of Florida from Spain to England in 1763, little account
can be fournd of the Caloosa on the west coast or their neigh [
bors, the Tequesta, on the east coast. John R, Swanton, [
citing letters from the Lowery manuscripts, writes of an
expedition sent t.o' punish certain chiefs for attaoking [
Christian Indians, and said that in 1681 many Indians flee-
ing from Guale were settling in the Caloosa tevmm.?36 "An-
other effort to missionize the Calusa in 1697 alsc failed r

but it is said that the Indians then living on Matacumbe -
37
Island were 'Catholics,'"

The question as to'what happened o the four thousapd
Caloosa, Tequesta, and Als that Mooney estimated to be in
Florida in 1650 is not easily an's’ﬁered.. Kooney assigns .
the chief causes for the decrease in the aboriginal Indiam T
population in the Gulf states to smallpox, dissipation,

wars, Slave raids, and removals.

; 35 James Hooney, "C_alusa," loc. cit., 196; James vlloo_n“cy, r
] "arawakan Colony," Handbook of American Indians North of

Mexico, Bulletin 30, Part 1, Bureau OF American LLRNOLOZY, . -
74; David O, Trus, editor, Memolr of Fontaneda, 15, . x
- 36 Johr. R. Swanton, EaTly History of the Creek Indians, t
343. ' :
: 37 Ibid.
; ===z

t
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The populous tribes of Florida seem to have
dwindled rapidly under Spanish rule, and their
destruction was completed in the eighteenth
century by inruptions of the Creeks, who were
armed with guns by the English of Carolina,
while the Spanish Government refused firearms
to its owmn dependents. 38 .

Hrdlicka assigned war, disease, and deportation as the causes
of the aboriginal disappearances in Florida, though he be-
lisved traces of the earlier races might be discovered among
the Everglades Seminoles.39 .

Buckingham Smith, in his report on the Everglades in
1848, refers to the traffic of the Indians of southern Flor-
1da at the turn of the seventeenth century, andé quotes Barcia
as saying ". . . that the traffic /with Cuba/ in the month of
Mareh, 1698, was worth $17,000. . . ."40 The invasions of
the Creeks and other Indians gllies of the English in the
eighteenth century drove the Caloosa from the peninsula and
forced them to takXe refuge on the Florida keys, especielly
Matecumbe, Key Vacca, and Key West.4l

3« The First Tourists

References to the Everglades during the sixtesnth and
seventeenth centuries are vague and confusing. . The Spanish
established missions at Tequesta on the Miami River and, ds

before mentioned, on the Caloosahatchee River on the west

38 James Mooney, "The Aboriginal Populatibn of,mmaiioa

North of Mexico,"™ loc..cit., 7. _ : ;
39 Ales Hrdlicka, The Anthrovology of Florida, 70.

40 T, P+ Smith, "Bucklingham Smith Report," 1oce, cit., 20.
41 Ibid., 19-20; James Mooney, "Calusa," loc. cit., 196.
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coast, but these activities did not prosper. Buockingham

Smith, in his 1848 report on the Everglades, briefly traces
the policies pursued by Spain in the interior and along the
southern coasts of the state prior to the cession to the
British in 1763. He says: |

The Indians on the southern part of the penin- -
sula spoke different lasnguages, and vere fregquently
2t war with each other. . . religlous missions were
established among them, and Catholic priests,
accompenied by families of whites, were 'sent to
reside among them as teachers to effect thelr con-
version to Christianity, to advance thelr civiliza-
tion, and to improve their social condition. « «
The savages were restrained from wars with each
other and with the whites . . . were taugznt to ob- '
serve the dictates of humanity and hospitality to-
wards the unfortunate who were wrecked on thsir
coast « « o were induced to devote their time to -
egriculture and the raising of stock, and encour-
aged to commence a traffic in peltries, birds,
skins, and ambergls with Havana, The whites under
this policy made settlements, and several reli-.
gious houses were erected in the interior. 42

gnglish and Indian invasions of the early 1700's from

Georgia‘and Carolina interrferred witan the Spanish act%vifies.
Several missionaries were murdered andi the inland anmd souih
Florida settlements and missions were ultimately abandoned
by the Spanish. Trade between the remaining Celoosa and
Havana was kept up, with the Indians adding fish and terra-
pin to the produce for which they received arms, cloth, and
other érticles. n0ccasionally a large pirogue, or canoe,
manned entirely by the Indisns and their slaves, could be

seen running in fair weather across from the keys to Hevana,

Z2 T. B. Smith, "Buckingham Smith Report,” loc. cit.,
19- 20 [ )

T
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, 43
laden with articles for sale, or barter, in that market.”
Under the provisions of the Treaty of Paris of 1783,
Florida became an English colony. Interest in the penin-
sula was revived with this change in sovereignty, and a num-
[ ber of literary, historical, and descriptive productions con-
cerning this newest English acquisition came off the London

presses, In William Roberts' An Account of the First Dis-

\ covery and Natural History of Florida, pub;ished in London

in 1763, reference is made to the "Laguna del Espiritu Santo

e« o o Situated between the islands, extending from north %o

' south about 27 leagues . . . near eight leagues w.'(.ti.e‘."l*4 In
the Thomas Jeffreys' map accompanying this work the lake is

represented as having communications with the bays on the

south and west of the peninsule, "and at the end of it . .

e ORI

are two shoals and six islands, called the Cayos del Esgir—
itu Santo: this large lake is as yet but 1ittle known."

Commenting on the Jeffreys' map in 1886, Angelo Helilprin

aisnin sifw-&lﬁ?‘w* T

observed that a broad arm of the sea designated as Bahia

l del Espiritu Santo corresponded with the modern Tampa Bay,
and that en opening into it from the west was possibly the

46 '
¥anatee River.

43 7. B, Smith, "Buckingham Smith Report," loc. cit., 2l.

44 wWilliam Roberts, An Account of the First Discovery,
and Natural Histo of Florlda With a Particular petall o¥
$he Several ﬁp_e&?%ons and pescents ¥ade on that Coast, 18e

46 Angelo Heilprin, Okeechobee Wilderness, v.
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William Gerard de Brahm, surveyor general for the south-

ern district of North America, hired as one of his assistants
a fellow Dutchman by the name of Bernard Romans.‘47 Romens

published his A Concise Natural History of Zast and West

Florida in 1775, He mentions the Okeechobee-Evergledes area,
but was not suwe that Lake Okeechobee existed. Ee related a
conversation he had held with a Spanish pilot who had been a
captive of the Florida savages.48 The Spaniard spoke of a
lake, wrote Romans, "lMayacco, seventy-five miles in circum-
ference by his account, « « « The man told me that he had
formerly been taken by the savages, and by them carried a
prisoner in a canoe . .+ . to their settlements on the banks
of the lake."49

‘William Stork, writing from the notes of De Brahm in
1769, gathered information on the province in general. In
Stork's discussion of the Shark River section behind the cape
of Florida and the sea coast eastward he pointed out that it
consisted

e » o 0f swamp and highlands, the latter not
exceeding 28,000 acres, in coarse reddish land,
containing much moisture, whose luxurious plants
are the pomegranate, the arboreous grape vine, the
Chicasaun plumb 3;27' the opunita, spice trees,

47 Carita Doggett Corse, "De Brahm's Report on East -
Florida, 1773," Florida Historical Quarterly, XV1I (Jan'aary,
1939), 219-226,

48 Bernard Romans, A Concise Natural Histogy of East
and Vest Florida, 285,

49

—
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and a variety of unknown shrubs; the soil is as

rich as dung itself, producing mangrove 50 and

60 feet high, « « « &
Buckingham Smith declared in 1848 that, "From the works
written during the possession of the Floridas by Great Bri-
tain, it is evident that the best informed, then, knew little
of the interior of the Everglades."51 .

During the second occupation of Florida by Spain from
1783 to 1821 and for some time after the purchase of Florida
by the United States little or no attention was given to the
southern end of the mainland., The area remained one of
mystery., The best accounts of the Everglades prior to the
Seminole War are found in Charles Vignoles' Observations

Upon the Floridas, and John Lee Willlams' Territory of Flor-

ida. Vignoles made a lengthy trip aronni the peninsula and
into the interior of the state, He desoribed the Everglades
as follows: | |

The Glade, or gs it is emphatically termed,
the Never Glade,% appears to ococupy almost the
whole interior from about the parallel of Jupi-
ver inlet to Cape Florida, thence round to Cape
Sable to whioh point it approaches very near,
and northwardly as far as the Delaware river .

discharging inte Chatam Bay: Its general appear-

60 William Stork, editor, A Description of East Florida,
with a Journal Kept by John Bartram, of Philadeiphia, Boba-
nist to His Ma esg For the rorIdas; ﬁhon 8 fournez up to

« JOINS ver as 1ar as the €S, .
e« Ba s Bus am Smith Report,® looc, cit., 13,

62 Undoubtedly a typographical error as on Dp.

the appellation Ever Glade is used, as are Great Glade and
Eternal Glade on pp. 49 and 53,
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ance is a f£lat sandy surface mixed in the large
stones and rocks, with from six inches to two [
feet of water lying upon it, in which is a !
growth of saw and other grasses, so thick as to
impede the passage of boats where there is no r
current. &3 L

Vignoles saw a number of islands and promontories in
the glades, meny of which were covered with hammock growth

mixed with some pine and cabbage palm. These he believed

capable of cultivation but they were located in such inac-
cessible positions as to repel most efforts at penetration, .{

The determination of the eircumstance of
tnis immense body of low land occupying the {
whole southern interior of East Florida, easily
affords an explanation of those upon ancient
maps, representing it as ecut up by rivers and '
lagoons, communicating with each other and the {
sea; and it is by no means improbable that the
knowledge of its existence, prevented the late ]
government from commencing settlements in a ; ' [
4 country of so 1little promise, for had the re- -
gions boasted of as equal to Cuba existed here, , :
there is enough of speculation in that island {
40 have improved the land of promise long be- ' ~
fore this period. 54

Vignoles belieyed_tha Everglade morass had been exaggerated , L
by the Indians, Negroes, and refugee whites, and that a sec-

o . am mama el eees am PN - 2 [
ey would have shown rich pieces of land in detach- -

tional surv
55 .
ed spots, 1

John Lee‘Williams visited the lower east coast in 1828
and, observing the Miami River, wrote: "The Miame /Sic/

River is a small stream that issues out of the glades and

e

53’Charles Vignoles, Observations Upon the Floridas, 50.
b4 Ibvid., 53,
55 Toid., 83.
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enters Sandwich Gulf /Biscayne Bay/ behind Cape Florida. .

The height of the glades above the tide has not been ascer-
- 56
tained." Local inhabitants told Williams that they reck-

oned the altitude to be all of forty feet, but Williams felt
twenty feet was more nearly correct.

The fall of the Rattones, New Hillsboro, St. Lucie,
Miami, Shark, Delaware, Caloosahatchee, and other rivers
emptying out of the glades led williams to speculate on the
possibilities and results of deepening the chanﬁels of the
rivers which drained the centrsl area between the Atléntie
Ocean and the Gulf of Mexico. Williams desdrihed,the area

as follows:

On reaching the level of the gledes, a vast
grass meadow is expanded, apparently as bound-
less as the ocean; you then pass on the winding
lagoons from six to twelve miles westwardly and
the grass, by degrees disappears and you are left
in an unexplored grassy lake to which you can dis-
gover no bounds. .. . « The grassy border of this
lake is usually covered with water during the
winter season, not so deep, however, as to hide
the grass which is very thick and tall, During
the summer, the ground is often dry and hard for
ten miles beyond the timbered land. This tract
is at all times stocked with wilad game, and would

afford a superior range for sattle, 57

Reflecting upon the future devdlopmant'of‘the Everglades,
he anticipated much of what has actually tsken place, He’
said:

56 John Lee Williams, The Territory of Florida or .
Sketches of the TO%Ogra§g¥a Civil and éafurEI ﬁisfogg of the
ountry, € mate e Indian Tribes from e rs

Discovery to e Present Time, « Cite erelnaifter as

S—

ferritory of Florida.
10, .
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Could it be drained by deepening the natural
outlets? iould it not open to cultivation
immense tracts of rich vegetable soil? Could
the waterpower, obtained by draining, be im-
proved to any useful purpose? ¥ould such drain-
ing render the country unheaithy? . . . » M
queries like these passed through our minds,
They can only be solved by a thorough examina-
tion of the whole country. Could the waters be
lowered ten feet, it would probably drain six
hundred thousand acres; should this prove to be
a rich soil, as would seem probable, what a field
it would open for tropical productions! Vvhat
facilities for commercel 58

After studying old maps of the interior of the penin-
sula which depicted the principsal rivers connecfing the
coasts on both sides and talking with native Indians wdrking
in the Spanish fisheries on Charlotte Harbor, Williams came
to the conclusion that the area had never been explored.
"ot Qne of the writers who have described this country
since the change of flags, has been able to obtain any cer-
tain intelligence relating to this part of the peninsula.“59

4, The Seminols War

The Seminole Indian War in Florida was but a phase of
the general movement in the United States in‘the nineteenth
century to push the Indian farther west. The movement in
the southernmost state differed from that in the Mississippi
Valley in that it was frbm north to south, rather than east

to west. American pioneers began to move into the new terri-

tory from adjoining states soon after the transfer in 1821,

58 John Lee Williams, Territory of Florida, 151.
59 Ibid., 6l.

{
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B While the territory had been in the hands of the Spanish
from 1783 to 1821 a great deal of Indian trouble had result- -

L ed from the laxity of the Spanish poliﬁy in dealing with
Indiesn problems. Andrew Jackson's invasions of‘Florida in
1814 and 1818 had almost caused war between the United States
‘ and Spain. 3But )

The determination of the Seminoles to hold
forever their lands in Florida, and to live
there on an equal basis with the white inhab-
itants created the biggest single probdblem with
whica Territorial leaders had to deal, 60
The acquisition of Florida by the United States opened
' the lands of the peninsula to settlement by citizens of the
republic, As much of the good land of the area was held by
P the red,mén, it was almost inevitable that attempts would be
made to remove the natives, a custom which had prevailed in

North Amerieca since earliest colonial days. within two

| Jears of the acquisition of Florida the United States nego-
tiated the treaty of Moultrie Creek with the Indians, pro-

‘viding that the latter move from the lands of Florida be-

tween the Appalachicole River and St. Augustine into a. four

million aore tract in the central portion of the peninsula,

———

fifteen miles from the Gulf and twenty.miles from the
61 :
Atlantic,

7 —

60 Sidney Walter Martin, Florida During the Territorial
Dalz S, 224, )

61 John Titcomb Sprague, The Orrfgn, Proérese, and Con=-
clusion of the Florida War; to which is appended a Record of
Officers, Non-Commissioned Officersl,ﬁusicfans and Privates of

he U.S. AT Nav and Marine Corps, Who liere K e Ba
tle or Died of Disease, 24-25. Hereinafter cited as Floridg ware
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In 1825 the Florida Indian agent petitioned the Indian

 Bureau in Washington to run a line for

e ¢« o the northern boundary of the Indian terri-

tory « . + in order to show a line of demarca-

tion to the white settlers, who are already

thronging to the vicinity of the Indian settle-

ments; and some . « o have taken positions near-

to, if not south of, where the line will neces-

sarily run; and will, I fear, i1f not expelled,

become troublesome, and create disturbances

emong the Indians, --they are squatters upon the

public lands. « «» &+ 62

Writing in 1848, Buckingham Smith declared that the pri-
mary source of the Seminole War was the arrangement of 1823,
by which the upper Florida Indians were assigned to the
region south of Micanopy. He believed, and with reason, that
the treaty of that year effectually prevented the.settlement
of the coast and the interior; that it comsolidated the Indi-
ans and placed them in the most defensible positions against
removal, _"Had they been assigned to the western part of the
Territory, nearer a dense white population, it is conceived
their ultimete removal west of the HMississippi could have
been effected without the great delay, vast expense, and

63

bloodshed that ensued." . _

The decade from 1823 to 1833 was marked by an a;most
continuous series of Indian depredations and the white man's
reprisals. Agitation to remove the red men reached ﬁ'head.

in the signing of the Treaty of Payne's Landing and the

62 John T. Sprague, Florida War, 28.

63 T+ B. Smith, "BucEingham Smith Report, " 100. cit., 22,
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Treaty of Fort Gibsbon in the latter year, By these treaties
the Indians signified their willingness to migrate to the
western territory., Both treaties were probably obtained
under duress, and as Grant Foreman wrote: "In’the dishonor-
able record of our dealings with the Indians there is perhaps
no blacker chapter than that relating to the Seminole peo-
ple."64 Regardless of the niceties of treaty-meking, the
Unitéd States government was going to carry out the provi=-
sions for removing the redmen. After two years of stalling
on the part of the Seminoles, January 8, 1836, was set as
the date for embarkation from Te.mpa.65 o

But the Indians were unwilling to leave their homes and
on December 28, 1835, massacred Major Francis Dade and his
band of men who were on a march from Fort Brooke to Fort
King, This act of the Seminol;s signalled the beginning of
warfare. The Seminole conflict was'markéd by few true bat-
tles; rather it was a series of raids, a@bnshes. and guerilla

66 ' S
warfare. The largest skirmish was fought on the northern

- 64 Grant Foreman, Indian Removal: The Emigration of the
Five Civilized Tribes of lndlans, 221, Cifeﬁvkere“na, er as
indlian Kemoval. , oL T e

65 W. A. Croffut, editor, Fifty Years in Camp and Field:.,

Diar§ of Magor-General Eathan Allen Eitchcodk§ oSehs, e
Cited herelnafier as choook Diary. Grant Foreman, Indian

Removal, 321 S
66 "cliéaxing a Qdecade of misrepresentation and misunder-

- * standing between Washington and the Indians, it marked the

inception of the longest, costliest, and bloodiest war in
United States history. To congressmen at the capital, this
war would mean an appropriation of thirty million dollars.

To fifteen hundred soldiers, death; to Zachary Taylor, a tor-
tous path to glory, and the brevet of brigadier." Holman
Hamilton, Zachary Taylor, Soldier of the Republic, 122,
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shore of Lake Okeechobee on Christmas day, 1837, between the

American forces under Colonel Zachary Taylor and the Indians,
Taylor had moved out from Fort Brooke on Tampe Bay the pre-
vious weekX. He had with him eight hundred regular troops,
one hundred and eighty Missouri Volunteers, and seventy Dela-
ware Indians, The Seminoles were well concealed in a dense
hammock surrounded by a swamp which separated them -

s ¢« « from the enemy, three guarters of a mile
in breath /sic/, being totally impassible for
horse, and nearly so for foot, covered with a
thick growth of saw-grass five feet high, snd
knee deep in mud end water, which extended to
the left as far as the eye could reach, and to
the right to a part of the swamp and hammock we
had just crossed, through which ran o deep
creek, )

. The soldiers were obliged to proceed on foot
through this swamp to a disasterous engagement
with the Indians who had skillfully planned the
setting for it, The loss of the attacking force
was twenty-six killed and 112 wounded, a large
portion of whom were officers. The bodies of
ten Indians were found and it was learned four
others had been killed., 67

Taylor and his men succeeded in routing the Seminoles, who
fled to the deeper recesses and more ;solated spots of south
'%Florida.

In the span of the years from Dade's massacre in Decem-
ber of 1835 to the c¢essation of hostilities iﬁ.Augﬁst of
1842 the Indians were gradually hunted down; the majority of
the Florida red Skins’were sent to the western 1ands{ the ’

remainder escaped end fled into the areas south of Lake

67 New York Observer, January 20, 1838, quoted in Grant
Foreman, ilndlan Removal, 356-357.
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Ckeechobee and the Caloosahatchee River. General Thomas S,
Jesup wrote the Secretary of War in February of 1838 of the
foolishness of seeking to transfer Indiens from one wilder-
ness %o another, from lands not reguired for agricultural
purposes, ". o o when they were not in the way of the white
inhabitants, and when the greater portion of this country
was an unexplored wilderness, of the interior of which we
were as ignorant as of the interior of China."68

Criticism of the army's conduct of the léng drawnout
Florida war spread from a local territorial conmcern to the
national arena, and even caused some international commént.
Captain Frederick Marryat, in his diary published in 1840,
tréced the causes and cdurse of the Seminole War to the end
of 1837, He cited American papers estimating the loss of
men as high as three thousand, and the cost at $30,000,000,
all fo subdue two thousand Indians who had held out against
the American government and managed to subsist against an
army four or five times}their num‘ber.69 But those who orit-
icised were not well aware of the cireumstaﬁces, as General
Jesup pointed out. He said: .
I, and my predecessors in oommand,7° were
not only required to fight, beat,‘and drive

‘—“W*A*mﬂ'[ - Wﬂ‘]m\?/

-

68 John T, Sprague, Florida War, 201; see also Joshua
Giddings, The Exiles of Florida, 182-183, o o
69 Frederick EE?rg;ﬁk,'A Diary in America, with Remarks
on its Institutions, 289-290,
e 1Ist of army commanders is long and imposing. It
is as follows: Edmond P, Gaines, Duncan Clinch, Winfield ‘
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the enemy before us, but to 80 into an unex-
pPlored wilderness and catch them., Neither {
Wayne, Harrison, nor Jackson, was required :
to do this; and unless the objects to be
accomplished be the same, there can be no : :
Just comparison as to the results. 71 {n

The general knew whereof he wrote, for in January and

—_—

February of 1838 he led an expedition down the east coast
from the head of navigation on the St. Johns River. On Jan- {
uary 25 Jesup and his men engaged the Indians at the hesad- :
waters of the Loxahatchee River in the middle of the swamp {
of the same name., Theodore F. Rodenbough, a member of the

Second Dragoons of the Second Cavalry, had vivid memories of ’ L

the encounter., He wrote:

411’1 can say is that it is a most hideous - :
region, in which nothing but serpents and -
frogs exist. The Indians themselves say that i
they cannot live here after March. While you ;
are freezing we are melting with the heat,
which equals that of July in New York., 72

Jesup ordered his men into camp at Juplter Inlet for rest -
and rehabilitation after the long march from the St. Johns |

and the Loxahstchee battle, The men were almost naked and
73 S

a third of them were without shoes, Cpera

A W

Seott, Richard Keith Call, Thomas S. Jesup, Zachary Taylér,
Alexander Macomb, Walker Armistead, and William J. Worth.

71 Jobn T. Sprague, Floridsa war, 196, : L
- 72 Theodore F. Rodenbo

, From Everglade to Canon with
the Second Drgfoonst an Authentic Account of sServicee 1o Flor- <
p Mexico, g a, and e indlan Country, inc gg ) -

erso Recollections of Prominen sers, oV, Clfed

herelnafter as From Everglade %0 Conon. '
73 Ibid.; John T. Sprague, Flod da War, 193,
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the coast from Jupiter, Jesup captured 678 Indians in Feb-

ruary, the news of which caused a band of 360 more to sur-
render to Taylor on his trip through the cecentral portion of
the state. Jesup reported he had tsken 1,955 Indians, while

33 escaped and 35 were killed between September, 1837 and
74
May, 1838,

On April 24, 1838 Colonel ¥illisam S. Harney with a
detachment from Jesup's command had a sharp skirmish with a
group of Indians twenty miles below Biscayne Bay, but the
Indians fled to the Everglades before the Ameriecans could
cateh any of them.75 By May of 1838 the Seminoles had been
driven south to the environs of Lake Okeechobee and the Ever-
glades, and the remaining four years éf the war were fought
in this remote region.76

Major General Alexander Macomb, commanding general of
the army, came to Florida in April, 1839, hoping to bring an
end to the strife. It was thought his high commgnd and rank
would impress the foe. Macomb released the Indian prisoners
on hgnd and sent #hem to find their remaining’tribesmen with
offers of peace from the army. After a series 6f'§onrerenp
ces the Indians agreed to retire to the region'beibﬁ Peace
Creek, and on Msy 18 Macomb 1ssue& an order that the war had

74 Grant Foreman, Indian Removal, 363.

75 T« F., Rodenbo y Yrom kverglade to Casnon, 34,

76 Charles H. Coe, Red Patriots: The ory of the Sem-
inoles, 35-40,
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terminated.77 One of the stipulations to the egreement was
the establishment of a militaery post and a civilian trading
house at Charlotte Harbor on the Caloosahatchee River. Colo-
nel William S. Harney with a detail of thirty-two men was
sent to the Caloosahatchee to set up the post and act as a
guard for the white traders,

The usual vigilsnce was relaxed with the cessation of
the fighting, and before dawn on July 23 eighteen soldiers
were killed and six ceptured. Harney and the rest managed
to escape the murderous band.78 Strangely enough this out-
rage was not the product of Seminole cunning; rather, it
was committed by a group of Spanish Indians under the leader-
ship of Chikika, an intelligent chief of a group of about a
hundred warriors.79 John Lee Williams, who had traveled in
the Charlotte Harbor region in 1828, described these Indi-

ans &s fbllows:

¢ « o [They/ never appeared at the agency to
draw annuities, but lived by cultivating their
fields, hunting, trading at the Spanish ranchos,

'hn-n*l-nvt'lnn' skins. mocking birds, and ’naf squir-

rZi§°§or°g€Z§T"émEEBItxon and clothing. and
sometimes assisting in the fisheries. This race

7?7 John T, Sprague, Florida War, 228-~229; Joshna Gids
dings, The Exiles of FlorIEZ"'EBV'EES. .
78 T, F. Rodenbougn, rrom Everglade to Canon, 56—38°
John T, Sprague, Florida War, 233:§§ .
79 John T, Sprague, Florida War, 99-100; Grant Foreman,
Indian>Removal 373; T. Fo RoEenEough, From Everglade to
anon,
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of Indians would have remgined beaceable to
this day had not an order been issued .
ordering them all to remove, 80

These Spanish Indians took no part in the Seminole War
until the Seminoles, driven from central Florida, moved in-
to the region below Leke Okeechobee. The Spanish Indians,
as they are called in the accounts of the nineteenth century,
had made no treaties regarding removal and had remained un-
noticed in their coastal haunts, carrying on their commerce
with Havana, The Seminoles quickly made friends with the |
Caloosa descendants and induced them to aid in the fignt for
their homeland on the peninsula.81 "Their knowledge of the
couniry and their long connection with the Spanish traders
and fishermen afforded perfect facilities for supplying the
Seminoles with arms and'munitions of war, « ."82

That the Spanish Indians had a just grievance against
the United States government is made clear in the breakdown
of the number of evacuees from Florida in New Orleans in May
of 1838, waiting transportation to Arkansas. Foreman gives
the figure as approximately 1,200, of whom nearly one-third
were Negroes who had been raised among the’SeminOIQs.

'mmong those who have gone up are about 150 Spanish Indiane

83
ar Spaniards who have intermarried with the Seminoles.

80 John Lee Williams, Territo of Florida, 242, '
81 John R. Swanton, Earlx His%o;y of the Creek Indians,
344-345, -

82 John Lee Williams, Territory of Florida, 242,
- 83 Arkansas Gazette an 30, §§3§, quoted in Grant Fore-
man, Indian Remov .
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Seven Spanish Indiens who were in the group at New Orleans
protested against further relocation and were left bn their
promise not to return to Florids until the close of the war,

The massacre at the post and trading house on the

Caloosahatchee in July of 1839, close upon the Macomb-Fort
King proclamation of the previous May, resulted in renewed
criticism of the prosecution of the war by the army, The
Seminole leaders hastened to report their innocenece of this
July crime, but the affair reopened a campaign that lasted
for two years.a4 Determined to track the red men down, the

army dispatched an agent to Cube to secure trained man-hunt-

ing bloodhounds. The dogs subsequently arrived on the scene

of action; however, the experiment ended in failure because

of the hot weather and the amount of swamp and overflowed

85
land of the Everglades and Big Cypress.

The struggle with the Indians dragged on through 1839
although operations were considerably limited by tke hot
weather of the summer and the attacks of yellow fever in
the autumn., When General Walker R. Armistead relieved Gen-
eral Taylor in April of 1840, the army had five thousand
officers and men at the various forts in south Florida of
whom almost six hundred were on the sick list.esThQ'han
hunts continued through the spring of 1840 with the ;aptnro

84 Grant Foreman, Indian Removal, 373,

85 ?. F. Rodenbough, From EvergIade to Ca.non, 44; John
T. Sprague, Florida Var, -242, A

86 John T. Sprague, Florida War, 243, 277,

T

18

)




SERER b
i, R

T e

maﬁ — '-mﬁ'. ’

SRR — ..i‘ﬁin;:‘ ‘iﬁ"“ﬁ v

v |

t
l
{

71
of 220 Indigns in Maroh end 200 in ¥ay.

On August 7, 1840 the Spanish Indians under Chikika
agaln made their presence known when they attacked Indian
Kay, one of the chain south of Cape Florida. The Indians
went ashore and proceeded to plllage and burn a small white
settlement. Dr. Henry Perrine, a noted botanist, was among
the whites murdered by the redskins., A former United States
consul at Campeachy, Yucatan, Dr. Perrine had secured s
township in the Biscayne Bay erea in 1838, where it was his |
intention to experiment with the introduction of tropicsal
er0p3.87 The scientist was residing on Indian Xey with his
family, who mireculously escaped murder by hiding under a
wharf, Perrine had been walting for the cessation of hos-
tilities in order to oceupy his grant.as

With the arrival of cooler weather in the fall of 1840,
General Armistead ordered the resumption of operations again-
st the fogitive enemy, Colonel William S, Harney and others
led their commands from headquarters at Fort Pierce on the

east coast,

¢+ » « South and west, extending from the ooast
to Lake Okeechobee, thence through the Ever-
glades, fand/. . . laid open the country, dis- -
closing large fields once cultivated by éhe
Indians; but the approach of troops had driven
them still deeper into their fastnesses. 89

87 William T, Cash, The Story of Florida, I, 333-334.
88 Senate Documents, Reports of committees, Number 242,
S0 Congress, 1 Session, 33; John T. Sprague, Florida War,

243-246, , ,
89 John T. Sprague, Florida War, 261.




AN et 5

§IMRS e b # A SO, AN o R by

kelRa e 13 el

ARSI L eI

72

Entering the Everglades at the headwaters of the Miami
River on December 4, 1840, Colonsl Earney and the ninety men
in his command followed a socuthwest course alcng the east-
ern shore of the grassy waters. TIhey traveled in canoes,
using individual paddles to ensure sileiices The party pitch-
ed camp each night on the nearby islands, looking all the
while for recent Indian signs. On the fourth day out the
group\reached Cochickeenadjo's Island in the southwestern
glades, where they captured eight Indisns, two of whom were
warriors. These latter Iarney summarily disposed of by
hanging to a tree.go On December 8, Eerney proceeded to
Chikikai's Island in the early evening in hope of a night
surprisal, but the guide got lost and it was late the follow-
ing morning before the party made a landing.

Harney was not to be denied reverge for the Csloosa-
hatchee massacre of part of his command in 1839. His de-
tachment surprised a small group of Indians on the island,
shot one warrior and captured two others and a_numher of
squaws and children. Chikikal was wounded and fled, dbut
was overtaken and killed.91 Remaining in the area until
the sixteenth Harney hanged nine warriors and killed an
equal number in skirmishes. Reaching Shark'Riveffthg party
went down to the Gulf and from thence to Indian Kay, Ft.

Dallas, and Ft. Pierce,

90 T. F. Rodenbough, From Everglade to Canon, 507.
91 Ibid., 507.
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A Becond trip into the sverglades made by Herney and a
detachment in January, 1841,was importent because of its ais-
¢losure of the nature of the Seminoles and theip habitat,
Leaving Ft. Dellas on New Year's Day with four large csanoes
and £ifty men, the party went up Little “iami River to the
edge of the glades where it spent the night and waited for
sunset of the following day. ™Ye then moved forward swiftly
and noiselessly, at one time following the course of'sérpen-
tine ohannels opening out occasionally into beautiful ia-
goons, at another forcing our way through barrisrs of saw-
grass."gz |

After paddling several hours the party moved up on
Chitto-Tustenuggee Island, an island some twenty agcres in
extent with soil two feet deep and very rich. The senter
0f the island was cleared with the circumference pretected
by & wide fringe of live oak, wild fig, and wild mangrove
trees. The Indians had located two towns, two daneing

- grounds, and a council lodge there in former Hmes, all

Were now overrun with pumpkin, squash, and melon vines,
ocoasional lima beans, and Cuban tobacco, Signs showed
that the natives had been goné at least‘?wp-weeks.gg On
& nearby island the soldiers found ﬁatehes of green corn

and sugar oane in addition to the usual vegetable vines,

92 Silvia Sunshine /Abblie ¥. Brooks/, Petals Pluoked

from Sg_.lr:?z Climes, 242. Cited hereinaiter &s i, X, Erpofs,

oy 2480
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After spending several days in scouring the islands
along the‘eastern edgq of the glades north ffom the Miami
headwsaters, the pariy reached a small }sland on which they
flushed a party of four warriors, five squaws, and two
children. Three of the warrlors were shot on the spot, and
three squaws and a child taken, "the other /child was/
drowned by its mother to prevent its cries leading to her
defection.“g4 Harney and his command reached the head-
waters of the New River at sunset on January 10 and were
at Ft. Lauvderdsle by midnight,

On the last day of kKay, 1841, General Armistead was
relieved by Colonel William J. Worth. Sprague estimated‘
there were but two hundred and twelve Indian warriors re-
maining in the state, and yet the war was to drag on for
another year. This number was reduced by almost twenty
with the capture of Coacoochee, or Wildecat, and a party of
fitteen in the middle of Jnne.95 worth, seeking to bring
the seemingly futile struggle to a close, worked on Coa-
coochee to bring his people in for the trip to the west
and thus end the war. Rodenbough places the date as the |
Fourth of July, 1841, when the Indian, hearing e salute in
honor of the day replied, "Yes, the white man is freé, but

96
he would make the red men his slavein®

94 A. M, Brooks, Sunny Climes, 248,

95 John T, Sprague, Florida War, 297.

96 T, F. Rodenbough, From iverglade to Canon, 511, "
Coacoochee's full reply to worth: "'l was once a boy,' said
he, in subdued tones., 'Then I saw the white man afar off, 1
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By 1841 the Seminole War was being fought on .Lake Okee-
chobee and in the Lverglades. 1In a report to the Secretary
of the NHavy dated January 24, 1841, Lieutenant John T,
MeLaughlin, commending the Florida Naval expedition, reoited
thé part played by his command of ninety seamen from the
barges Ostego and Wave and the schooner Flirt, The Naval
unit had cooperated with Colonel Harney in the latter's
January trip into the_eastern area of the glades near ¥iami
and Fi., Lauderdale .~97 Leaving Harney near the p_e_ad.wafers |
of the New River, the McLaughlin command skirted the east-

ern edge of the Everglades on a southwest course, searching

all the islunds for Indians and arriving at the Gulf -

hunted in these woods, first with bow and arrow, then with
a rifle. I saw the white man, and was told he was my enemy,
I could not shoot him as I would a wolf or a bear: et like
these he Game upon me. Horses, cattle, and Fields Ee Took
from me. He sagi he was my friend, He abused our women and
children, and told us to go from the lanad, - Still he gave me
his hand in friendship. We took it. V®hilst taking it he head
a snake in the other., His tongue was forked. He lied and
stung us., I asked but for a small plece of these lands,
enough ¥o plant and to live upon, far south--a spot where I -
could lay the ashes of my kindred. This was not granted me,
I was put in prison. I escaped. I have again been taken.,
You have brought me back. I feel the irons in heart.' 4t
this moment the battery of & government vessel a%wancﬁ_or
fired a salute in honor of the day. The council recessed
briefly and then reformed after the salute, when the chief
asked what it meant, The interpreter, with some hesitation
replied that, 'On that day many years ago the white people
gained their rights as free men, and became their own masters,'
As he listened the chief's eye flashed and he involuntarily
clutohed the handouffs and turned to Colonel Worth, who for
the first time in his 1ife felt like 'going home,' and ex- -
claimed bitterly, 'Yes, the white man is free, but he would
make the red man his slave.'" :

97 Senste Documents, Fumber 242, 30 Congress, 1 Session,
106-108.
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of Mexico through Harney River on January 19.

Joint operations, of the army, navy, and marines, be-
gen in earnest in the fall of 1841, A joint expedition
moved in October from Ft. Dallas, crossed the lower glades
to the pine woods near the west coast, and thence to Punta
Rassa. Leaving the Ft., iyers area on the second of Novem-
ber the expedition moved up the Celoosghatchee and into
Lake Okeechobee and from tnere to the Loxshatchee and the

east coast, The armed force saw a half dozen Indians on
. . 98
the whole trip but was not able to effeot a capture.

As illusfrative of the peculiarity of the

service to which these various corps were sub-

Jected, there was, at one time to be seen, in

the Everglades, the drsgoon in water from three

to four feet deep, the sailor and marine wad-

ing in the mud in the midst of the eypress, and

the soldiers, infantry and artillery on the land,

in the water, and in boats. . . « Here was no

distinction of corps, no Jealousies, but a lauda-
.ble rivalry in concerting means to punish a foe

who had so effectually eluded all efforts. Com-

forts and conveniences were totally disregarded,
-even subsistence was reduced to the lowest ex-
. tremity. Night after night, officers and men .

were ocompelled to sleep in their canoes, others

in damp bogs, and in the morning cook their bregk-

fast over a fire built on a pile of sand in the :

prow of a boat, or kindled around & cypress stump,.99

98 John T. Sprague, Florida War, 333-335; Senate Docu-
ments, Kumber. 242, 30 Congress, 1 Session, 109~ .

99 John T. Sprague, Florida War, 354, A day by day
aceount of a sixty day naval expedition into the Everglades,
Lake Okeechobee, the Kissimmee River, and Lake Tohopekaliga
is found in George Henry Preble, "A Canoe Expedition into -

the Everglades in 1842." Tequesta: The Journal of the His-
torical Association of Southern rlorida, V (1946), 30-51,
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Reporting to Abel P, Upshur, Secretary of the Navy, on
April 29, 1842, Lieutenant McLaugnlin was able toyétate that
"every portion of the Zver Glades and water coqises of the
interior, from Lake Tohopkeliga south, have been visited by
[various detachments/ . . . end examined and large fields
and settlements brok¥en up and destroyed."loo‘ MeLaughlin
reported that one of the detachments had, with the exception
of twenty days, been employed without intermission 1h.their
canoes since October 9, 1841. The ships Flirt and;ﬁggg put
in the Hillsboro River in May, zave chase to twb;Indians to
the head of Snake Creek, where Indian fields of sugar cane,
corn, and bananas were in cultivation. The command was
divided into two scouting parties: one entered the country
between the Eiami and Kew Rivers, and the other'ipto’tha:
glades. The second seout, composed of marines, was com-
pelled to return to the post for want of water.
The fatigue and privation undergone by this
detachment was so great that private Kingsbury
fell in his trail and died from sheer exhaustion,
The waters of the Everglades had fallen so low
that it was necessary to track the boats at all
times; and at some to make ways of the boats'
ssats for miles and miles to slide them over, 101
President John Tyler informed Congress on Eéy'lo.‘1842,

that he had authorized Colonel Worth to declaré the

100 Senate Documents, Number 242, 30 Congress, 1 Session,

116, _ ‘ ;
101 John T, Sprague, Florida War, 389,



78
hostilities against the Indians at an end when the military
commander deemed it expedient. "He is instructed to'opén
communications with those yst remaining, and endeavor by
all peaceable means to persuade them to consult their true

102
interests by Joining their brethern at the Vest. . . o

Tyler estimated there were only two hundred and forty Indi-

ens left in Florids, of whom only eighty were capable of
bearing arms., In order to relieve the federal government
of further expense for protection, the president suggested
gcertain inducements to settlers in the form of ian&, arms,
and subsistence to families settling the Florida frontiers.
"Making a virtue of necessity, General Worth agreed
that several hundred Seminole Indians might remain for the
present in Florida upon conditions to which the Indians paid
1ittle attention.” 108 ,
General Order number 28, issued by Colonel‘wbrth.on
August 14, 1842, announced the Indian nostilities had
ceased and put the few Indians in Flori da within certain

limits, roughly the section of Florida south and west of

Lake Istokpoga and a line drawn through the middle of the

mouth of the Kissimmee River at Lake Okeechobee to the inf |

104
of ¥exico, Sprague estimated there were three hundred

102 James D. Richardson, A Compilation of the Messages
1789-1897, 1v, 155,

and Papers of the Presidents,
153 Grant roreman, IEEIan Removal, &84,

104 Ibid., 407; John T. Sprague, Florida wWar, 486.
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end sixty Indisns in Florida in 1845, of whom one hundred
and tﬁenty were warriors.105

Among the significant results of the Seminole War were
the removal of the majority of the Indians to the wastern
lands and the consequent opening of the peninsula of Flori ds
to white settlement, The reports brought back by the men in
the armed services regarding the hitherto unknowm lands and
waters of south Florida served, in some measure, %o acquaint
the public at large with the territory. Army troops had
garrisoned forts on both eoasts and in the interior and mili-
tary roads had been blazed throughout the whole section,
Naval and marine units had cruised the inshore waters and
carried out expeditions through the inlznd waterways,lo6
Engineers had mapped and charted the area and all of the
"exploring® soldiers and sailors had observed the fertile
islands of the Everglades., Many of the islands were cover-
ed with a very rich soil and had been intensively cultivated

by the Indians, producing crops of corn, beans, sggar cane,
. : 10

pumpkins, sgquash, melons, bananas, and tobacco, Many of
the men who fought in the Evergla&es, among them the Florida
volunteers, remained in the state and nndoubtedli‘reﬁembered

the primitive gardens on the little islands.

105 John T. Sprague, Florida War, 512.
106 Joseph Christmas Ives, compiler, Memoir to Accom~
A Military Map of the Peninsula of Florlds Sou

T a8 Bay, l=42,

107 A. M, Brooks, S Climes, 247-248; T, F, Roden-
bough, From Everglade to Canon, 507-508; John T, Sprague,
Florida War, 389.
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